RECEIVED

Aug 01 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND
TREATMENT OF JOSEPH CURTIS, JR.

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000285

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

In this sexually violent predator case, did the trial court err in allowing the Attorney General to introduce four instances of uncharged conduct, including salacious details, through its hired expert in violation of the rules prohibiting hearsay?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Attorney General petitioned for appellant's commitment under the Sexually Violent Predator Act and on February 7, 2023, he was tried in Horry County before the Honorable William Seals and a jury. R. 1. Suzanne J. Shaw and Chris Runyan represented the Attorney General. R. 1. Kindle Kay Johnson represented appellant. R. 1. The jury found appellant met the definition of an SVP and Judge Seals ordered him committed. R. 377, 1. 13 – 22. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The evidentiary issues raised in this appeal are reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 161-62, 851 S.E.2d 442, 444 (Ct. App. 2020).

ARGUMENT

In this sexually violent predator case, the trial court erred in allowing the Attorney General to introduce four instances of uncharged conduct, including salacious details, through its hired expert in violation of the rules prohibiting hearsay.

Introduction

The court-appointed DMH expert in this SVP case did not diagnose appellant with any mental abnormality or personality disorder, concluding that he was simply a criminal. R. 280, 1. 2 – 12. The Attorney General’s hired expert diagnosed appellant with “other specified personality disorder” with antisocial and narcissistic traits in addition to exhibitionism. R. 78, 1. 4 – 8. To support her claim that appellant had this disorder, the expert used four separate instances where appellant was “investigated” or a “suspect,” but was never charged, including two sexual allegations against children. R. 65, 1. 3 – 17. The Attorney General’s use of their expert as a conduit for this hearsay stretched Rule 703 past its breaking point.

Factual and Procedural Background

The court-appointed expert from the Department of Mental Health, Dr. Marie Gehle (“Gehle”), concluded that appellant did not meet the definition of a sexually violent predator. R. 254, 1. 8 – 12. “Because I didn’t make a diagnosis of a mental abnormality, my opinion was that he was not a sexually violent predator per the statute.” R. 254, 1. 13 -18. Dr. Gehle stressed the narrow focus of her evaluation was to determine whether appellant met the criteria for commitment and not to recommend treatment or what a defendant should do to not commit further crimes “in the community.” R. 255, 1. 9 – 16. She held firm to this opinion after listening to the testimony of the Attorney General’s hired expert, Dr. Emily Gottfried (“Gottfried”) from MUSC. R. 254, 1. 22 – 255, 1. 20.

The Attorney General hired Dr. Gottfried to evaluate appellant after Dr. Gehle issued her opinion. R. 48, l. 11 – 21. R. 109, l. 15 – 20. The Attorney General pays MUSC \$5,600.00 to perform these evaluations. R. 110, ll. 15 - 18. Dr. Gottfried said MUSC had “an agreement” with the Attorney General (“not a contract”) for the state to “send us independent evaluations when they choose to, I guess.” R. 109, l. 15 – 20.

Dr. Gottfried diagnosed appellant with “other specified personality disorder with both antisocial and narcissistic traits. . . .” R. 78, l. 4 – 8. She also diagnosed appellant with “exhibitionistic disorder.” R. 78, l. 4 – 8. Reading from the DSM, Dr. Gottfried explained to the jury that a diagnosis of “other” is used when the person does not meet the criteria for any specific disorder, but the clinician determines the person has symptoms of a personality disorder and “clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. . . .” R. 79, l. 6 – 22.

She explained that antisocial personality disorder (“ASPD”) is “marked by a pervasive pattern of the disregard for the rights and the wishes of other people.” R. 81, l. 7 – 14. “So it’s characterized by people who don’t necessarily follow the rules of society.” R. 81, l. 7 – 14. “So that could be getting a lot of arrests, so they don’t conform with the laws of society.” R. 81, l. 7 – 14. She said these individuals lack empathy, are irresponsible, impulsive, aggressive, and irritable. R. 81, l. 15 – 17. Appellant lacked evidence of conduct disorder prior to age fifteen so Dr. Gottfried could not diagnose him with ASPD. R. 81, l. 18 – 82, l. 12.

When asked if not for the lack of conduct disorder whether appellant met the criteria for ASPD, Dr. Gottfried said he did, explaining, “He has a lot of arrests. He’s repeatedly performed acts that are grounds for arrest. He has a criminal history spanning from at least 1989 to 2012, 2013.” R. 82, l. 13 – 21. As for the addition of narcissistic traits to her diagnosis, she said appellant

“had a marked sense of entitlement; that he exploited other people; that he lacked empathy, and that he was arrogant.” R. 83, l. 5 – 84, l. 3. As for her diagnosis of exhibitionism, Dr. Gottfried admitted on cross-examination that “exhibitionism offenses related to exposing your genitals are not considered sexually violent offense[s]. . . .” R. 196, l. 3 – 16.

Dr. Gehle said she had testified approximately 150 times in SVP cases and performed about 325 SVP evaluations. R. 233, l. 19 – 234, l. 11. R. 242, l. 14 – 18. Most of time she testified for the State. R. 234, l. 9 – 11. She was employed as a chief psychologist for DMH and was “Court-appointed as a neutral party.” R. 234, l. 18 – 235, l. 18.

She did not see evidence of a personality disorder. R. 279, l. 4 – 280, l. 1. People with personality disorders are readily apparent in the interview: “It comes out right away, and it will be repeated throughout the interview.” R. 279, l. 4 – 280, l. 1. These subjects’ personality disorders affect “the way they see the world” and they do not “even realize that not everybody sees the world that way” and are unable to hide their attitudes and reactions. R. 279, l. 4 – 280, l. 1. Dr. Gehle agreed that appellant had “repeated criminal behavior,” which can be a symptom of ASPD, “but that doesn’t make it a disorder, to have a criminal history.” R. 280, l. 2 – 12. She said, “And if all criminal behavior and all sexual, you know, criminal behavior was due to a mental health problem, we would probably have hospitals instead of prisons. But there’s criminal behavior that is not called mental illness.” R. 280, l. 2 – 12.

Prior to trial appellant filed a motion in limine to prohibit the State “from using its expert as a conduit for inadmissible hearsay.” R. 391. Appellant’s motion argued that Rules 702 and 703 do “not eliminate the Court’s gatekeeping role to ensure that unreliable hearsay or specific details that have not been admitted or verified are transmitted to the jury” R. 391. Appellant also

asked for such hearsay to be excluded because it demonstrated to the jury that the expert relied upon them as truthful. R. 391.

During the pretrial motions hearings, appellant told Judge Seals that she felt the issue concerning uncharged conduct was better left until after another, lengthier hearing. R. 10, l. 3 – 5. The Attorney General responded that precedent allowed the use of unconvicted conduct if used by an expert, citing In the Matter of Corley, 353 S.C. 202, 577 S.E.2d 451 (2003), White v. State, 375 S.C. 1, 649 S.E.2d 172 (Ct. App. 2007), and In the Matter of Ettel, 377 S.C. 558, 660 S.E.2d 285 (Ct. App. 2008).

The next day, Judge Seals heard further argument on appellant’s motion. R. 34, l. 16 – 39, l. 5. The Attorney General again cited Ettel and Corley arguing that unconvicted conduct was proper in SVP cases. R. 34, l. 16 – 39, l. 5. Appellant argued that the unconvicted charges were hearsay and should not be admitted. R. 34, l. 16 – 39, l. 5. When asked by the trial judge for the state’s position on hearsay, the Attorney General responded that “if the expert relies on it in informing their opinion, it need not be admissible and hearsay can come in.” R. 34, l. 16 – 39, l. 5.

Appellant argued that Rule 703 had reasonable limits and investigations that did not result in an arrest were unreasonable. R. 34, l. 16 – 39, l. 5. The judge ruled that because the expert used the uncharged conduct, they were admissible. R. 34, l. 16 – 39, l. 5. Appellant renewed the objection when the Attorney General asked Dr. Gottfried to go through appellant’s criminal history. R. 60, l. 3 – 8. At a bench conference after another objection by appellant where defense counsel asked for a continuing objection, Judge Seals said, “When you hear hearsay, object. Just go ahead and object. . . . But the charges, we have already discussed that. I’ve ruled on that.” R. 70, l. 18 – 24.

The Attorney General asked Dr. Gottfried to address appellant's criminal history in "chronological order." R. 60, l. 3 – 5. During her recitation, Dr. Gottfried discussed both accusations that resulted in convictions and some that did not. R. 60, l. 12 – 70, l. 24. Appellant's convictions included a drug offense in New Jersey in 1989 for angel dust; assault and battery with intent to kill; two charges for possession of marijuana; a seatbelt violation; two counts of contributing to the delinquency of a minor; and third-degree criminal sexual conduct, kidnapping, and incest (all arising from the same facts). R. 60, l. 12 – 70, l. 24. The third-degree CSC, kidnapping, and incest were the predicate convictions for the SVP commitment and were the result of appellant raping his twenty-year-old niece. R. 68, l. 3 – 18. Dr. Gottfried told the jury about a charge that was dismissed for second-degree CSC with a minor and lewd act that was dismissed because "the reported victim wasn't cooperative with the prosecution." R. 64, l. 6 – 20.

Dr. Gottfried also told the jury about the following uncharged conduct that is the subject of this appeal. She said appellant "wasn't charged, but I had a police report out of Orangeburg from 2002 where he was listed as a suspect in case of criminal sexual conduct with a minor." R. 65, l. 3 – 17. She told the jury the details of this incident—that there were two minor victims "who had ripped hymens" and that appellant was dating their mother. R. 65, l. 5 – 66, l. 10. Dr. Gottfried then was unclear on whether the mother or the father reported the allegations saying she had "them mixed up in my head" and then said she was "not going to testify as to who the reporter was." R. 66, l. 5 – 10.

She told the jury that appellant was "investigated" in 2004 for simple assault and battery because of an altercation at work. R. 66, l. 11 – 19. The next incident was another investigation for domestic violence in 2005 that did not result in charges. R. 66, l. 20 – 23. The final incident was an allegation of harassment by a girlfriend in 2006. R. 67, l. 20 – 25. In contrast with Dr.

Gottfried's testimony, Dr. Gehle said she uses charges to score actuarial recidivist measures, but does not consider them in forming a diagnosis, considering them as "not proven." R. 267, l. 11 – 269, l. 11.

Legal Discussion

The trial court erred in admitting these four instances of uncharged conduct. In a criminal case, these statements would have been excluded as classic testimonial hearsay. See Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). Even in the realm of SVP cases where some hearsay has been allowed through experts that would never see the courtroom in a criminal case, the hearsay in this case goes too far. See In the Matter of Corley, 353 S.C. 202, 577 S.E.2d 451 (2003); In the Matter of Ettel, 377 S.C. 558, 660 S.E.2d 285 (Ct. App. 2008); In re Manigo, 389 S.C. 96, 697 S.E.2d 629 (Ct. App. 2010).

For a statement to be hearsay, it must be made by the declarant out of court and offered for the truth of the matter asserted. Rule 801(c), SCRE. Dr. Gottfried was not the declarant in these cases. Nor was she the person who heard the statement from the declarant. The declarants were the people who reported these accusations. Dr. Gottfried then gave the police's version of the declarants' statements to the jury.

These statements were offered for the truth of the matter asserted. Dr. Gottfried told the jury these allegations mattered to her diagnosis of the ASPD component of her diagnosis. R. 82, l. 13 – 21. She said appellant had "repeatedly performed acts that are grounds for arrest." R. 82, l. 19. This statement was the same as telling the jury these acts were true. For the jury to believe Dr. Gottfried that a pattern existed that could result in her diagnosis they could not also believe that she relied on false accusations.

Rule 703, SCRE does not stretch so far as to allow this violation of the rules prohibiting hearsay. See State v. Jenkins, 436 S.C. 362, 872 S.E.2d 620 (2022). In Jenkins, the Court stated, “This Court and our court of appeals have made it clear that—in South Carolina—Rule 703 allows admissibility of otherwise inadmissible evidence only in limited circumstances. In other words, the mere fact an expert relies on inadmissible evidence does not make the evidence admissible.” Id. The Jenkins Court essentially required a Rule 403 balancing test of facts relied upon by an expert when the hearsay statements could serve two purposes. Id.

The South Carolina SVP cases most frequently relied upon by the Attorney General do not go as far as the hearsay admitted in this case. Corley dealt with prior convictions. See Corley at 204-07, 577 S.E.2d at 452-54. The SVP defendant in Corley offered to stipulate to his prior convictions to avoid their details being discussed by the expert. Id. The Court held that it was proper for the expert to talk about the details of the convictions because the defendant’s past criminal history was relevant to the elements of the statute and evaluating his risk. Id. While that assessment of relevance can be also urged here (or in any case), the salient point is that Corley only discussed admission of the details of the defendant’s convictions.

Ettel allowed testimony about offenses that did not result in convictions, but the important distinguishing factor is that the defendant admitted to the offenses during his interview with the expert. Ettel at 560, 660 S.E.2d at 286. Ettel also was not a hearsay case, but a Rule 403, SCRE case. Id. Manigo was a hearsay case, but there the expert relied on a statement made by the SVP defendant to another doctor about discussing his prior sex offenses. Manigo at 105, 697 S.E.2d at 633. The questioned statement was whether the defendant told the doctor about all of his sex offenses. Id. Unlike in Manigo, the jury here heard about ripped hymens, fights with co-workers, and domestic violence.

Other jurisdictions refuse to allow such wide-ranging forays into uncharged conduct based on hearsay. Virginia does not allow experts to testify about the underlying details of other offenses considered by the expert if the details are inadmissible hearsay. Commonwealth v. Wynn, 671 S.E.2d 137, 139-142 (Va. 2009). The Virginia Supreme Court upheld the exclusion of details of children's allegations other than the victim from Wynn's two convictions. Id. The state argued that the details were admissible because the expert relied on them, but the Wynn court rejected that argument. Id.

In a case cited with approval by this Court in In the Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 851 S.E.2d 442 (Ct. App. 2020), the New York Court of Appeals examined the admission of hearsay in an SVP trial. State v. Floyd Y., 979 N.Y.S.2d 240 (2005). The court determined that it was necessary to strike a balance between allowing enough evidence for the jury to assess the expert's methods versus allowing the expert to become a conduit for otherwise inadmissible hearsay. Id. The court determined that any hearsay must first be reliable and then pass a Rule 403 balancing test. Id. This Court in Bilton used a reliability analysis to determine that the hearsay evidence regarding a PPG test was inadmissible. Bilton at 164-66, 851 S.E.2d at 445-46.

The hearsay details of uncharged allegations did not meet the reliability threshold for admissibility in this case. The fact that police talked to the declarants does not make their statements inherently reliable (as is the rationale in Crawford). Police interviews that were not followed by charges craves the inference that these statements were of dubious reliability. Appellant had no real means to test the substance of the allegations. The trial court did not judge reliability and accepted the Attorney General's simplistic analysis that if the expert relied on something, it was inadmissible. Jenkins teaches that such reasoning violates the trial court's gatekeeping responsibility.

These hearsay accusations were not reliable and were too remote from the judicial fact-finding process to be admitted as evidence before a jury. The error cannot be harmless in this case because these allegations were supposedly necessary to support the diagnosis of a personality disorder, which is an element the Attorney General must meet to commit a defendant under the SVP Act. The diagnosis here was weak—“other.” The diagnosis was contested by the court-appointed, very experienced evaluator from DMH. Appellant was not diagnosed with pedophilia and the jury should not have heard about any of these accusations, especially the “ripped hymens” of two minors.

The Attorney General began her closing argument by telling the jury that they should believe Dr. Gottfried over Dr. Gehle because she “took into account all of the information that she was given. Dr. Gehle did not do this.” R. 337, l. 19 – 21. She continued, “You heard [Dr. Gehle] say on cross-examination today that any unconvicted conduct, she did not treat as truth. She disregarded it. That, ladies and gentlemen, is exactly why she did not make the diagnoses that Dr. Gottfried did.” R. 337, l. 22 – 25. This Court should reverse.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse appellant's commitment and remand for a new trial.



David Alexander
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT