RECEIVED

Aug 01 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
The Honorable William Seals, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2023-000285

In the Matter of the Care and Treatment
of Joseph Curtis, Jr.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Judge Seals did not abuse his discretion in allowing the State’s expert to testify about uncharged allegations of conduct involving Appellant because the information was a necessary part of the expert’s psychosexual evaluation, and the information was one of multiple data points that served as a basis for the expert’s diagnostic and risk assessment opinions.

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in admitting Dr. Gottfried’s testimony regarding the uncharged allegations against him that spanned over a period of twenty plus years because the testimony was “conduit” hearsay. Contrary to Appellant’s contention, the challenged evidence was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted but, as Judge Seals found, it was offered as part of the analysis and basis for Dr. Gottfried’s opinions, it was directly relevant to the issues, and the prejudice to Appellant did not substantially outweigh the evidence’s probative value. (TT, pp. 164-66; R., pp. 37-39).

A. Admissibility

While propensity evidence is not admissible in criminal cases, it is well established that SVPA cases are not criminal proceedings and the person’s propensity to commit future acts of sexual violence is the focus of SVPA proceedings. *See, e.g., In re Care & Treatment of Ettel*, 377 S.C. 558, 660 S.E.2d 285, 287 (Ct. App. 2008) (A “person’s **dangerous propensities** are the focus of the SVP Act.”) (*quoting In re Care and Treatment of Corley*, 353 S.C. 202, 577 S.E.2d 451, 453 [2003]) (emphasis added). Thus, information regarding charged and uncharged offenses are relevant and essential to an evaluator’s formation of an opinion regarding the person’s propensity to commit future acts of sexual violence, and is highly probative of the SVPA’s focus. *Matter of Hay*, 263 Kan. 822, 953 P.2d 666, 678. In recognition of the importance of such information to assessing the person’s dangerous propensities, the SVPA affords evaluators “reasonable access to the person for the purpose of the examination, as well as access to *all* relevant

medical, psychological, criminal offenses, and disciplinary records and reports,” which can include both convictions and offenses not resulting in convictions if they are relevant to the determination of whether a person is a sexually violent predator. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-90(C) (2018) (emphasis added); White v. State, 375 S.C. 1, 649 S.E.2d 172, 176 (Ct. App. 2007) (past convictions and prior offenses not resulting in convictions that bear on whether a person is a sexually violent predator are admissible in SVPA cases).

“Because a ‘person’s dangerous propensities are the focus of the SVP Act,’” consideration of “[p]ast criminal history is therefore directly relevant to establishing 44-48-30(1)(a), which in turn bears directly on whether one suffers from a mental abnormality under section 44-48-30(1)(b).” Ettel, 660 S.E.2d at 287. Prior unconvicted sexual offenses may establish a “pattern of behavior of sexual assaults,” which aids in the diagnosis of a mental abnormality and goes to the person’s propensity to commit future sexual offenses. *Id.* at 288.

Appellant asserts the information regarding his uncharged offenses, specifically the 2002 investigation regarding Appellant being a suspect in a sex offense against his girlfriend’s two daughters, the 2004 simple assault investigation for simple assault and battery based on an altercation with a coworker, the 2005 domestic violence allegation, and the 2006 allegation of harassment reported by the mother of Appellant’s 2006 victims, was “offered for the truth of the matter asserted” simply because the jury had to believe the information was true in order to accept Dr. Gottfried’s opinions. As a threshold matter, taken to its logical conclusion Appellant’s assertion would prohibit testimony regarding any information an expert relies on that is found in official records, including the NCIC report (rap sheet) that Dr. Gehle testified “is absolutely essential and necessary to forming [her] opinion.” Indeed, Dr. Gehle testified she even “stopped submitting reports” during a period of time she did not have access to NCIC reports “because [she]

needed that information before [she] could absolutely give an opinion.” (TT, pp. 374-375, 430; R., pp. 247-248, 303).

Appellant’s argument would also prohibit expert testimony regarding information obtained from medical and mental health records, school records, correctional facility records, official police records, victim statements, victim medical examination reports, victim forensic interview reports, publicly available information (public indexes) regarding criminal offenses that are not included in an NCIC report for some reason, and any collateral interviews the expert conducted (such as probation officials and the person’s family members). Both Dr. Gottfried and Dr. Gehle testified they review and rely on many of these information sources in reaching their ultimate opinions regarding diagnosis and future risk to reoffend. (TT, pp. 178-181, 186-191, 372-378, 387-388, 395-396, 410-411; R., pp. 51-54, 59-64, 245-251, 260-261, 268-269, 283-284). They simply consider and use the information differently.

Dr. Gottfried testified she accepted the reports of uncharged allegations as written and acknowledged she did not know if the allegations were true, but they were something she had to consider as part of her evaluation and they carried less weight in her analysis. Dr. Gottfried stated the underlying facts of Appellant’s sex offense charges, institutional infractions, and sex offense convictions presented a pattern supporting her exhibitionism diagnosis. As to her diagnosis of other specified personality disorder with antisocial and narcissistic traits, Dr. Gottfried testified she would still diagnose Appellant with the disorder even without the uncharged allegations, but she did have to consider them because they were allegations of criminal conduct. (TT, pp. 250, 252, 338-340; R., pp. 123-125, 211-213). The jury was free to disregard Dr. Gottfried’s opinions precisely because she candidly testified she did not know if the uncharged allegations were true.

The jury also heard Dr. Gehle's testimony that she did not consider the uncharged conduct in reaching her opinions. (TT, pp. 446-47; R., pp. 319-320). In reaching its verdict, the jury was free to accept Dr. Gehle's opinion that uncharged allegations should not be considered at all.

Assuming for purposes of argument only that the evidence at issue was hearsay, Appellant's reliance on State v. Jenkins, 436 S.C. 362, 872 S.E.2d 620 (2022) is misplaced. In Jenkins, the Supreme Court held that when evidence relied on by an expert serves dual purposes, the trial court must "'determine whether the evidence has sufficient probative force for serving the legitimate purpose that the evidence should be admitted, despite its inherent tendency to serve the improper purpose.'" *Id.* at 631 (*quoting State v. Perry*, 430 S.C. 24, 842 S.E.2d 654, 657-58 [2020]). The evidence at issue in this case did not serve dual purposes. Rather, as Judge Seals found, the evidence was admissible to inform the jury of the basis for Dr. Gottfried's opinions, not to establish the allegations were true, or even believable. (TT, pp. 164-66; R., pp. 37-39). Again, the jury was free to discount the evidence and Dr. Gottfried's opinions entirely.

Significantly, Appellant's contention that evidence of uncharged conduct is inadmissible at a SVPA trial, even if it is directly relevant and necessary to explain the expert's methodology, evaluation, and opinion, is counter-intuitive to the language of the statute regarding evaluators' access to the person's criminal offense history, as well as case law finding that propensity to commit future acts of sexual violence is the focus of SVPA proceedings. Essentially, experts would be statutorily entitled to access and consider the person's entire criminal offense history, including uncharged conduct revealed in official records, for purposes of diagnosis and risk assessment, but then could not testify at trial about the basis for their conclusions if it includes the uncharged offenses.

Recognizing the purposes of expert testimony in sexual predator civil commitment cases, other jurisdictions have allowed experts to testify regarding the person's uncharged conduct. In sexual predator civil commitment cases, expert testimony regarding the details of underlying facts or data of uncharged sexual offenses is "highly probative and helpful to the jury in explaining the basis of [the expert's] opinion that [a person] has a behavioral abnormality that makes him likely to engage in a predatory act of sexual violence." In re Commitment of Renshaw, 598 S.W.3d 303, 314 (Tex. App. 2020) (*quoting* In re Commitment of Stuteville, 463 S.W.3d 543, 556 [Tex. App. 2015]). Evidence of uncharged offenses is necessary to explain the basis of the expert's opinion because without that evidence, the jury would not hear about the person's pattern of sexual conduct, and the jury would not be basing its verdict on the full picture of the person's sexual deviance. *Id.* at 315. *See also* In re Detention of Coe, 286 P.3d 29, 43 (Wash. 2012) (evidence on unadjudicated offenses is admissible in a civil commitment case provided it is not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted).

In State v. Floyd Y., 22 N.Y.3d 95, 2 N.E.3d 204 (2013), the court found that a significant number of jurisdictions take a flexible approach allowing the admission of "basis hearsay" in sexual predator commitment cases, but require the trial courts to make independent reliability assessments, which serve to protect the individual's substantial liberty interests.

[B]asis hearsay does not come into evidence for its truth, but rather to assist the factfinder with its essential article 10 task of evaluating the experts' opinions. In order to assess an expert's testimony, the factfinder must understand the expert's methodology and the practice in the expert's field. In this case, for example, [the expert] testified that experts in her field "rely heavily upon witness statements, affidavits, [and] victim statements ... because in treatment there are issues of confronting a sexual offender with exactly what happened." Understanding her diagnosis and her treatment of Floyd Y. requires understanding the information she considered when making her diagnostic and treatment decisions. As our concurring colleagues concede, out-of-court statements are routinely admitted at trial for purposes other than to demonstrate their truth. Factfinders in article 10 trials cannot comprehend or

evaluate the testimony of an expert without knowing how and on what basis the expert formed an opinion.

To the extent that a factfinder’s assessment might turn on its acceptance of basis evidence as true, article 10 provides the respondent with an opportunity to challenge the State’s expert by presenting a competing view of the basis evidence through the testimony of the respondent’s expert.

Id., at 212-13 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added); *see also State v. John S.*, 23 N.Y.3d 326, 15 N.E.3d 287, 300–01 (2014) (hearsay at issue was derived from documentary sources, including complaints from five different victims attacked within a 32–day time period involving a strikingly similar pattern, which supported trial court’s finding the information was sufficiently reliable).

In *State v. John S.*, the court found:

The State’s experts based their mental abnormality diagnoses, in part, on patterns of behavior that they perceived had emerged from respondent’s criminal history, such as his propensity to commit sex offenses in public places, to reoffend after having been previously sanctioned for a sex offense, and to use violence to control his victims. **It was reasonable for the trial court to conclude that basis testimony about the 1968 charges (which involved three violent rapes) was necessary for the jury to adequately evaluate whether these opinions were credible or convincing, and that excluding the testimony may have stymied the jury’s fact-finding.**

15 N.E.3d at 300–01 (emphasis added).⁴

Appellant presented a competing view of the basis evidence via the testimony of Dr. Gehle. During closing argument, Appellant emphasized the extent of Dr. Gehle’s experience conducting SVPA evaluations and that she was appointed by the court to conduct the evaluation. Additionally, Appellant implied that since the State hired Dr. Gottfried, her diagnoses and opinion would be biased in the State’s favor. (TT, pp. 476-478; R., pp. 349-351).

⁴The court held it was error to admit evidence regarding an uncharged rape based solely on a presentence report from the person’s criminal case, but found the error was harmless. *Id.* at 547-548.

Appellant correctly asserts the court of appeals cited Floyd Y in In re Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 851 S.E.2d 442 (Ct. App. 2020), but then ignores significant aspects of the Floyd Y analysis as discussed above. Further, to the extent Bilton addressed conduit hearsay, it is clearly distinguishable from the instant case. The evidence at issue in Bilton was an expert's testimony about the results of a scientific test (penile plethysmography) administered by someone else, the testifying expert did not have training or experience in administering the specific test, and she did not know who actually performed the test or how it was performed. *Id.* at 165-166. This case does not involve a scientific test performed by an unknown individual. Dr. Gottfried performed the analysis and testified about each part of Appellant's evaluation, what documents she personally reviewed, what she considered and how she used all the information in reaching her opinions. Thus, the Bilton analysis simply does not apply.

Appellant's contention that the fact that law enforcement reports did not result in charges "craves the inference that those statements were of dubious reliability" is highly speculative and ignores the reality of sex offenses. Initially, Dr. Gottfried's testimony that the vast majority of sex offenses are not reported was undisputed. (TT, p. 220; R., p. 93). Further, there are a myriad of reasons sex offense charges are either not filed or filed charges are dismissed, notably protecting the victims' mental well-being from having to relive their sexual assaults.

Dr. Gottfried testified that Appellant was charged for criminal sexual conduct of a minor in 2000, but the charge was *nolle prossed* specifically because the victim would not cooperate with the prosecution. This further demonstrates the difficulty victims have in reporting sex offenses, and prosecutors have in proceeding on the charges that are reported. (TT, p. 191; R., p. 64).

As discussed in depth above, the challenged evidence was not admitted to prove the allegations were true, but only to explain part of the basis for Dr. Gottfried's methodology, analysis

and opinions regarding Appellant's mental status and risk to reoffend sexually. To the extent the challenged evidence was hearsay, it was "basis" hearsay that was necessary to explain to the jury what Dr. Gottfried considered and how she reached her opinions. Without that evidence, the jury would not have the "full picture" of Appellant's sexual deviance, and its fact-finding responsibility would have been stymied. Therefore, Judge Seals did not abuse his discretion in admitting the evidence, and his ruling should be affirmed.

B. Rule 403

Appellant contends Judge Seals erred in admitting the evidence of uncharged allegations against him because "Rule 703 does not stretch so far to allow this violation of the rules prohibiting hearsay." Judge Seals allowed Dr. Gottfried's testimony regarding uncharged conduct reflected in Appellant's official records as part of her analysis because "[i]t factors into her report and she gave them weight." (TT, p. 166; R., p. 39).

Rule 403, SCRE, provides that relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence" (emphasis added). "A trial court has particularly wide discretion in ruling on Rule 403 objections," and its decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should only be reversed in exceptional circumstances. State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003) ("A trial [court's] decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.").

In SVPA cases, the statute affords evaluators access to the person's criminal offense history, which clearly includes uncharged/unconvicted criminal offenses, and the possibility of

unfair prejudice from allowing the expert to reference this evidence as part of the basis for the expert's opinion does not substantially outweigh the evidence's probative value. *See, e.g., Ettel; Corley; In re Care & Treatment of Manigo*, 389 S.C. 96, 697 S.E.2d 285 (Ct. App. 2010).⁵ In *Ettel*, the expert used information about prior unconvicted sexual offenses, as well as verbal information she received from out-of-state law enforcement regarding a possible sexual component of a murder conviction, in finding "a pattern of behavior" supporting her paraphilia diagnosis and risk assessment.⁶ The court of appeals affirmed the trial court's admission of the evidence, finding the possibility of unfair prejudice did not substantially outweigh the evidence's high probative value. 660 S.E.2d at 288.

As in *Ettel*, Dr. Gottfried used Appellant's criminal offense history of both adjudicated and unadjudicated offenses to determine if there was a pattern of behavior for purposes of diagnosis and risk assessment. Particularly in the SVPA context, the significant probative value of that evidence was not substantially outweighed by the prejudice to Appellant, even if the possibility of prejudice was high.

In a case much more dramatic than the instant case, the Texas Court of Appeals directly addressed the issue of "unfair prejudice" from evidence regarding uncharged/unconvicted allegations in sexual predator civil commitment cases. In *Stuteville*, the expert testified Stuteville had approximately twenty-seven to forty-three victims (in addition to the four victims of his charged offenses), which Stuteville asserted "was based largely on unsubstantiated rumors, gossip,

⁵Appellant attempts to distinguish these cases on factual differences, but the court's analysis and conclusion in each case regarding the ultimate issue of admissibility of uncharged/unconvicted criminal offenses remains the same.

⁶Appellant asserts *Ettel* is distinguishable because *Ettel* himself told the evaluator about his uncharged sexual conduct. This assertion ignores the *Ettel* expert testifying about verbal information she received from law enforcement on which she relied in reaching her opinion.

and multiple levels of hearsay.” As Appellant argues in this case, Stuteville further asserted “[t]he sheer volume of this evidence created a substantial danger’ that the jury based its verdict on further punishing Stuteville for the uncharged sexual offenses.” 463 S.W.3d at 553-56.

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